# **ABCRad Deliverable 1:** Desktop study and basic characterisation of alternative buffer materials.

Gianni Vettese, The University of Helsinki

Reviewed by Mika Niskanen, POSIVA

# Abstract

ABCRad is a research project based at the University of Helsinki (UH) Radiochemistry Unit. It aims to provide quantitative and mechanistic information for end-users on the properties of the two alternative bentonite materials, making them viable candidates as buffer / backfill material replacements for use in KBS-3 style high-level radioactive waste repositories to the current reference Wyoming Na-bentonite. Expanding the knowledge base of alternative materials will provide robustness on the safety case for spent nuclear fuel disposal in the event that there are problems with the Wyoming bentonite supply chain. ABCRad studies the materials physico-chemical structure, stability following heating, and interactions between the materials and radionuclides under conditions specific to the ONKALO® repository. In the first year, ABCRad will achieve this by: i) studying the basic properties of the bentonites; ii) assessing the impact of high temperatures on geotechnical and mineralogical properties of the bentonites; iii) determining  $K_d$  values using sorption isotherms; and iv) by studying the mechanisms governing solution-to-solid partitioning via modern spectroscopic techniques such as Extended X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (EXAFS) spectroscopy, and Time Resolved Laser Fluorescence Spectroscopy (TRLFS). The results of the project will provide an enhanced understanding of material evolution and potential radionuclide interactions with the bentonites, directly informing the safety case for the storage of spent nuclear fuel. In collaboration with POSIVA Oy, UH have received seven alternative bentonite materials for a desktop study that will be used to inform the decision on which two materials are carried forward in ABCRad.

# Contents

Abstract	. 1
List of abbreviations	. 2
Introduction	. 3
Bentonite general structure	. 3
Alternative buffer material experiments	. 4
ABM at Äspö Hard Rock Laboratory	. 4
EURAD-HITEC project	. 5
Thermodynamic sorption behaviour in the context of radioactive waste disposal	. 6
Understanding TSM at a molecular level	. 6
Conclusions	. 8
Measurements made at UH	. 8
Methodology	. 9
ONKALO <sup>®</sup> Water recipe	. 9
рН	. 9
Powder X-Ray Diffraction	. 9
Surface area determination	. 9
References	10

# List of abbreviations

**ABM** – Alternative buffer material, in reference to the ABM experiment series carried out at Äspö hard rock laboratory, Sweden.

 $\ensuremath{\text{CEC}}\xspace$  – cation exchange capacity

EURAD - European Joint Programme on Radioactive Waste Management

**HITEC** – Influence of temperature on clay-based material behaviour, a work package in the EURAD program, **MEAEF** – ministry of economic affairs and employment, Finland.

**STUK** - The radiation safety centre. An administrative authority of the Ministry of Social Affairs and Health,

which oversees radiation and nuclear safety in Finland.

**THM** – thermal-hydraulic-mechanical

**TSM** – thermodynamic sorption model

**UH** – the University of Helsinki

# Introduction

Bentonite is a geological clay mineral of the smectite group and is composed mostly of montmorillonite, which has unique swelling properties when in the presence of water which leads to low water permeability (approximately 10<sup>-13</sup> ms<sup>-1</sup> for compacted bentonites). Bentonites are mined globally, but vary widely in mineralogy and properties, influencing its industrial application. In Finland, the ONKALO® deep geological disposal facility is designed for the disposal of spent nuclear fuel. Here, bentonites play a critical role in three geotechnical barriers: i) as a buffer material surrounding the waste canisters to provide protection and limit water and radionuclide movement, and ii) as a backfill material to fill deposition tunnels and maintain stability iii) as closure material for filling central tunnels, access tunnel and shafts. In ONKALO® alone, there is an estimated 27 tonnes bentonite required for use as a buffer material per buffer (with 3000 deposition holes this would mean approximately 81 000 tonnes of buffer material), a further estimated 400 000-500 000 m<sup>3</sup> of backfill material required, and finally approximately 700 000–800 000 m<sup>3</sup> of closure material, which will be composed of a 70/30 mixture of crushed rock and bentonite. The basic physico-chemical properties of various bentonites have been studied for potential use in spent nuclear fuel disposal in Finland (e.g., Kiviranta et al., 2011 & 2018; POSIVA, 2012 & 2021); however, most experimental work has focussed on POSIVA's current reference material for the repository: Wyoming-type high-grade Na-bentonite (commercial names such as MX-80 and BARAKADE)(POSIVA, 2012 & 2021). Given the operational lifetime of ONKALO<sup>®</sup>, the volume of buffer required, and potential changes in "the global market" (e.g., logistics / supply chain issues, global political instabilities), it is essential that multiple bentonite types are considered in order to "future-proof" the disposal concept (as recommended by the Finnish ministry of economic affairs and employment)(MEAEF, 2022). The buffer material can be changed as long as the alternative material meets requirements (POSIVA, 2012 & 2021). Indeed, STUK (the Finnish regulator) has requested that "POSIVA describe how a buffer material can be changed without compromising the performance of the buffer" (STUK, 2015). To help meet these requirements POSIVA Oy have supplied UH with seven alternative bentonite materials (Table 2). The current desktop study and basic chemical characterisation will be used to inform the decision on which two materials are carried forward in experimental work as part of the SAFER2028 funded ABCRad project. Moreover, this document outlines the experimental setup for the remainder of ABCRad considering the current literature.

# Bentonite general structure

The main component in any bentonite is a swelling mineral, usually montmorillonite, which represents approximately 50 - 80% of the bentonite. The remainder is accessory minerals, which may vary substantially in both mineralogy and concentration, typical accessory minerals include: other clay minerals, quartz, feldspars, gypsum, calcite, pyrite, iron oxides/hydroxides, and amorphous or organic compounds. Montmorillonite is a clay mineral of the smectite group that has a layered tetrahedral-octahedral-tetrahedral (TOT) alumina-silicate sheet structure with a well-defined thickness (~1 nm) and a lateral extension from 100 – 1000 nm. These 2:1 layers consist of two tetrahedral silicate sheets and one octahedral aluminate sheet. Montmorillonite particles hold permanent negative charge, due to isomorphous substitutions in the crystal structure (mostly Mg<sup>2+</sup> for Al<sup>3+</sup> in the octahedral sheets and Al<sup>3+</sup> for Si<sup>4+</sup> in the tetrahedral sheets). The permanent negative structural charge of the montmorillonite is compensated for by positively charged counterions (mostly Na<sup>+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup>, but they could also be cationic radionuclides e.g., Cs<sup>+</sup>, UO<sub>2</sub><sup>2+</sup>). An illustration of an individual montmorillonite particle is shown in **Figure 1** below.



Figure 1: Crystal structure of the individual montmorillonite particle. Taken from (Birgersson et al., 2017).

Montmorillonite particles then stack up to form layers, the layers can expand following hydration. When completely dry, montmorillonite layers have a basal spacing of ~9.7 Å. Increasing hydration increases this basal spacing where values close to 12.5 Å and 15.0 Å signify a monolayer and a double-layer of water respectively. At higher water content, the basal spacing increases more continuously.



**Figure 2:** Schematic illustration of montmorillonite interlayers at different degree of hydration. Typical dry densities of the particle-water system (ρ), and average counterion interlayer concentrations (C<sub>IL</sub>) are given. Taken from (Birgersson *et al.*, 2017).

### Alternative buffer material experiments

#### ABM at Äspö Hard Rock Laboratory

ABCRad is not the first project to study alternative buffer materials. For example, the Alternative Buffer Material (ABM) experiment series at Äspö Hard Rock Laboratory (Sweden) assesses the corrosion-induced changes in montmorillonite content, interlayer cations and overall Fe content of eleven different clays (SKB, 2021a). The main purpose of the ABM project was to characterise the long-term stability of various clays with respect to changes in hydro-mechanical properties, mineralogy and chemical composition. The ABM experimental design is similar to the Swedish KBS-3 concept with a copper canister containing spent nuclear fuel surrounded by clay in a crystalline bedrock ~450 m underground. The original experiment (2006) included three test-packages (Table 1) which each contain a central heater (to simulate heat produced from radioactive decay of the waste), surrounded by compacted clay buffer blocks. In 2012 a further three additional test packages were installed (Table 1), with some minor variation in the materials. Thus far, the

experiments have identified several important mineral reactions including redistribution of sulphate minerals, extensive cation exchange and the formation of corrosion products at the interfaces with the Cu canisters and Fe heaters (Olsson and Karnland, 2011; Kaufhold *et al.*, 2021; SKB, 2021b; Sudheer Kumar *et al.*, 2021).

Test #	Duration (years)	Temperature Range	Artificial Wetting	Installation Year
		(°C)		
1	1	80 - 130	Yes	2006
2	3	80 - 130	Yes	2006
3	5	80 - 130	No	2006
4			Yes	2012
5	5	150 – 250	Yes	2012
6			Yes	2012

Table 1: 7	Fest program	for the	ABM ex	periment.
10010 21	Cot program	ior the	, (D)() (C)	(permenter)



Figure 3: Schematic of the ABM experiment (Test 1). Taken from (Svensson et al., 2011).

#### EURAD-HITEC project

Excess heat from the radioactive wastes, especially if above 100 °C, may trigger mineralogical alterations in the geotechnical barrier components that could have adverse effects on their geochemical properties. In order to improve the understanding of the transport processes among other things the EURAD-HITEC work package aims to "develop and document improved THM understanding of clay based materials (host rock and buffer) exposed to elevated temperatures (>100 °C) for extended durations". Still an on-going project, some experimental results from the HITEC project have demonstrated that excess heat (> 100 °C) can collapse the interlayer space, resulting in decreased Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC), as seen following heat treatment at 90 °C (9%) and at 120 °C (14%) (e.g., Kaufhold et al., 2010. As the HITEC project is still on going, most manuscripts are not yet published). Accordingly, STUK has identified the assessment of the mineralogical transformations of montmorillonite as a critical concern for the long-term safety case of SNF disposal (STUK, 2015).

Similar to current work in the ABM experimental series and the EURAD-HITEC work package, ABCRad will assess the long-term effects of heat load on the physico-chemical properties of the two chosen alternative bentonites. Samples will be dry heated at 150 °C and sub-samples will be analysed every 6 months.

# Thermodynamic sorption behaviour in the context of radioactive waste disposal

Whilst the ABM and HITEC projects are, undoubtedly, extremely useful and relevant; their objectives are generally limited to characterising the thermal-hydraulic-mechanical (THM) coupled processes associated with changes observed in the bentonites. The chemical interactions of alternative buffer materials with radionuclides, however, is relatively poorly studied.

Thermodynamic sorption models (TSM) (based on laboratory experiments) can predict the mobility of contaminants in the subsurface and they are applicable to, for example, radioactive waste disposal scenarios (Payne et al., 2013). Here, safety case calculations typically have two chemical processes that are necessary to evaluate the risks associated with radionuclide migration. These are: i) the sorption co-efficient (K<sub>d</sub>), which quantifies the distribution of a radionuclide between the aqueous and solid phase at equilibrium; and ii) the solubility limit of the contaminant in the relevant geochemical environment. Where K<sub>d</sub> values are experimentally determined, they describe both adsorption and desorption; solubility limits are generally assessed using thermodynamic data and models, they describe dissolution – precipitation reactions (Grenthe et al 1992). Indeed Kd is one of the most critical parameters for the assessment of a waste repository.  $K_d$ values are typically determined via batch sorption experiments where an exact mass of a geological material (e.g., host rock or bentonite clay) is mixed with an exact volume of solution (representative of the environment in study) which contains known concentrations of the contaminant in question. K<sub>d</sub> is described in **Equation 1**, where  $C_i$  and  $C_{eq}$  are the initial and equilibrium concentrations of the contaminant and V and m are the volume and mass of the aqueous phase and the sorbent respectively.  $K_d$  typically has units mL/g, L/kg or m<sup>3</sup>/kg. The contaminant concentration is typically expressed in units such as mol, mg, or for radioactive isotopes Bq.

$$K_{d} = \frac{amount \ of \ radionuclide \ sorbed \ per \ unit \ mass \ of \ substrate}{amount \ of \ radionuclide \ dissolved \ per \ unit \ volume \ of \ solution} = \left(\frac{C_{i} - C_{eq}}{C_{eq}}\right) \cdot \frac{V}{m}$$

Equation 1: Kd in written form and as an equation.

It must be noted that, whilst K<sub>d</sub> measurements are key to describing contaminant mobility, they are conditional parameters that are specific to the experimental conditions employed during their determination. Meaning that K<sub>d</sub> is very sensitive to changing parameters (changing geological material, solution composition and pH, radionuclide concentration, temperature). K<sub>d</sub> values therefore cannot be extrapolated to a wide range of conditions and must be calculated using well-controlled experimental regimes, that are specifically designed to mimic the desired environment (e.g., Tsai, Ouyang and Hsu, 2001; Missana, García-Gutiérrez and Alonso, 2004; Missana *et al.*, 2014; Izosimova *et al.*, 2022).

#### Understanding TSM at a molecular level

Although  $K_d$  delivers useful quantitative information on sorption reactions under specific conditions, it cannot describe the mechanisms that govern the partitioning of contaminants between the solid and the solution, and the data cannot be extrapolated to a wider range of conditions (Payne et al., 2022). It is therefore imperative to develop a TSM model that looks at the molecular scale. This molecular-scale understanding will build on our current scientific understandings of bentonite – radionuclide interactions; adding value to the safety case for radioactive waste disposal. At the molecular scale, K<sub>d</sub> values and TSMs conceptualise the functional groups available on a mineral surface that interact with dissolved species (e.g., radionuclides) via sorption or ion exchange. The mineral surface sites may be considered as one of two classes: variable and permanent charges (Sposito, 2008). Variable charge surfaces (e.g., Fe-oxides) are strongly affected by pH where acid-base reactions govern mineral – radionuclide interactions. Permanent charge sites (e.g., clays) have fixed structural charges that are compensated for by the binding of counterions (cations, in the case of clays). Often a mineral can exhibit both classes of charge sites, as is seen in clays. The number of surface sites and the number of ion exchange sites can be estimated by measuring the specific surface area and the cation exchange capacity (CEC), respectively.

Then, the research must provide a molecular scale model of the interaction between the mineral surface and the radionuclides. Here, the key distinction lies between inner-sphere and outer-sphere surface complexes, where inner-sphere complexes form a direct bond between the surface and the absorbed radionuclide, and outer-sphere complexes form a bond with the water molecules in the hydration sphere of the absorbed radionuclide (**Figure 4**). Generally, inner-sphere complexes are involve a strong, chemical bond and, outer-sphere complexes involve weaker physical bonds via electrostatic forces of attraction. Modern spectroscopies such as Extended X-ray Absorption Fine Structure (EXAFS) spectroscopy (Williamson et al., 2021; Vettese, et al., 2020b; Ho et al., 2022), and Time Resolved Laser Fluorescence Spectroscopy (TRLFS)(Kammerlander *et al.*, 2021; Philipp *et al.*, 2022) can distinguish the various sorption mechanisms and will be employed in ABCRad.



**Figure 4:** Ball and stick representation of inner-sphere (top, green) and outer-sphere complexation (bottom, purple) of Sr to bentonite surfaces. Image adapted from (Vettese et al., 2020).

In order to have a more fundamental understanding of radionuclide transport in the environment ABCRad will provide a TSM that contains  $K_d$  values for key, risk-driving radionuclides (Cs and U) under experimentally relevant conditions. It will also involve state-of-the-art analyses EXAFS and TRLFS, which will provide a molecular-scale explanation for the observed experiments.

Reflecting the above, batch sorption isotherms (to calculate  $K_d$ , using Equation 1) will be made using a 1:20 ratio of solids to solution. Here, 0.5 g of bentonite (sieved  $\leq 200 \ \mu$ m) will be equilibrated with 10 cm<sup>3</sup> of

ONKALO<sup>®</sup> water (see methodology section) spiked with a given concentration of Cs or U at a fixed temperature (293 ± 3 K) for a fixed period. The radionuclides used will be <sup>134</sup>Cs and <sup>233</sup>U, the tracers will be caesium chloride and uranyl nitrate. After equilibration, the suspension will be centrifuged at 2,522 *g* for 30 mins and the gross gamma activity in 5 cm<sup>3</sup> of the supernatant will be used to determine <sup>134</sup>Cs and <sup>233</sup>U partitioning. The pH of all experiments will be conducted at the natural pH between the bentonite. All solutions will be prepared with degassed, 18 M $\Omega$  cm<sup>-1</sup> de-ionized water, and all manipulations (except for centrifugation) will be done under anoxic (H<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>, Ar) conditions. Samples will be prepared for EXAFS and TRLFS analysis as described in (Philipp *et al.*, 2019).

# Conclusions

The aim of this desktop study was to perform basic characterisation of the supplied bentonites and to perform a desktop study assessing the literature relevant to the experiments. Following discussions with POSIVA, ABCRad will continue to work with materials from Laviosa and LMS for the remainder of the project. Material from Laviosa was backfilling bentonite in Posiva's operation licence application and material from LMS is planned backfilling bentonite for operation, making them ideal to study as alternative buffer material. The methods that will be used (reflecting the relevant literature) are described in each relevant chapter and the basic characterisation of the seven bentonites is given below.

# Measurements made at UH

As well as the desktop review, some preliminary data was collected at UH. The specific surface areas  $(SSA_{N2BET})$  of all bentonites vary between  $30 - 89 \text{ m}^2/\text{g}$ . The XRD patters of the seven bentonites are shown in **Figure 5**; the strongest peaks of montmorillonite, calcite, quartz, Feldspar and cristobalite are indicated.

Bentonite	Country of	рН	Specific Surface	Main Mineral composition
	origin		Area <sub>N2BET</sub> (m²/g)	
LMS	Georgia	10.40	76.157	Montmorillonite, Feldspar, Mica, Zeolite
Luxgel	Egypt	10.23	40.670	Montmorillonite, Calcite, Cristobalite, Quartz,
Cetco CP5	USA	10.01	38.628	Montmorillonite, Cristobalite, Quartz
	(Wy)			
Laviosa	Italy	10.76	33.165	Montmorillonite, Feldspar, Quartz, Cristobalite
Barakade	USA	10.41	29.862	Montmorillonite, Calcite, Quartz, Feldspar,
	(Wy)			
IMERYS	Greece	10.24	89.068	Montmorillonite, Quartz, Calcite, Plagioclase, Feldspar
Ashagel	India	9.95	78.413	Montmorillonite, Quartz, Calcite, Plagioclase, Feldspar

Table 2: Bentonite properties.



**Figure 5:** (Left) N<sub>2</sub> adsorption / desorption isotherms of the seven bentonite samples. Specific surface area (m<sup>2</sup>/g) given in square brackets. (**Right**) XRD patterns of the seven bentonites. Montmorillonite d-spacing given in square brackets (Cu K<sub> $\alpha$ </sub> radiation).

# Methodology

#### ONKALO® Water recipe.

The reference water used for the sorption isotherms will be relevant to ONKALO<sup>®</sup>; it will be the same as was supplied for the HITEC project. Per litre of de-ionised water it contains NaCl (6.47 g/L, 0.11 M), and CaCl<sub>2</sub>.5H<sub>2</sub>O (3.53 g/L, 0.032 M). Its ionic strength is 0.365 M.

#### pН

1 g of bentonite was added to 20 mL 18 MQ de-ionised water and mixed. The pH was recorded after 1 hr using calibrated electrode (Mettler-Toledo, Columbus, OH, USA).

#### Powder X-Ray Diffraction

Bulk powder mineral samples were determined by XRD analysis using a Panalytical X'Pert3 Powder X-ray diffractometer with  $CoK_{\alpha}$ -radiation ( $\lambda$  = 1.5406 Å, 40 kV, 40 mA). The samples were prepared as random powders without any preferred particle orientations by placing them on glass slides, the samples were then measured from 5° to 75° 20 using a step size of 0.02° 20. The software HighScore Plus and the PDF-4<sup>+</sup> database were used for mineral identification.

#### Surface area determination

The SSA<sub>N2BET</sub> was measured by N<sub>2</sub> adsorption using a 7-point BET method. Measurements were performed by a Quantachrome Autosorb iQ Station 3 with ~0.5 g weight. Standard pre-treatment conditions are 110 °C and 9 h.

# References

Birgersson, M. *et al.* (2017) 'Bentonite buffer: Macroscopic performance from nanoscale properties', in *Geological Repository Systems for Safe Disposal of Spent Nuclear Fuels and Radioactive Waste*. Woodhead Publishing, pp. 319–364. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-08-100642-9.00012-8.

Ho, M. S. *et al.* (2022) 'Retention of immobile Se(0) in flow-through aquifer column systems during bioreduction and oxic-remobilization', *Science of The Total Environment*, 834, p. 155332. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.155332.

Izosimova, Y. *et al.* (2022) 'Adsorption of Cs(I) and Sr(II) on Bentonites with Different Compositions at Different pH', *Minerals*, 12(7), p. 862. doi: 10.3390/MIN12070862/S1.

Kammerlander, K. K. K. *et al.* (2021) 'Sorption of europium on diatom biosilica as model of a "green" sorbent for f-elements', *Applied Geochemistry*, 126, p. 104823. doi: 10.1016/j.apgeochem.2020.104823.

Kaufhold, S. *et al.* (2021) 'Mineralogical analysis of bentonite from the abm5 heater experiment at Äspö hard rock laboratory, Sweden', *Minerals*, 11(7), p. 669. doi: 10.3390/min11070669.

Kiviranta, L. et al. (2018) Characterization of Bentonite and Clay Materials 2012-2015.

Kiviranta, L. and Kumpulainen, S. (2011) 'Quality control and characterization of bentonite materials', POSIVAreport,(December),p.102.Availableat:http://www.iaea.org/inis/collection/NCLCollectionStore/\_Public/43/108/43108887.pdf.

MEAEF (2022) National Nuclear Safety and Waste Management Research Programme – SAFER2028.

Missana, T. *et al.* (2014) 'Modeling cesium retention onto Na-, K- and Ca-smectite: Effects of ionic strength, exchange and competing cations on the determination of selectivity coefficients', *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, 128, pp. 266–277. doi: 10.1016/j.gca.2013.10.007.

Missana, T., García-Gutiérrez, M. and Alonso, Ú. (2004) 'Kinetics and irreversibility of cesium and uranium sorption onto bentonite colloids in a deep granitic environment', *Applied Clay Science*, 26(1–4), pp. 137–150. doi: 10.1016/J.CLAY.2003.09.008.

Olsson, S. and Karnland, O. (2011) 'Mineralogical and chemical characteristics of the bentonite in the A2 test parcel of the LOT field experiments at Äspö HRL, Sweden', *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth*, 36(17–18), pp. 1545–1553. doi: 10.1016/j.pce.2011.10.011.

Payne, T. E. *et al.* (2013) 'Guidelines for thermodynamic sorption modelling in the context of radioactive waste disposal', *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 42, pp. 143–156. doi: 10.1016/J.ENVSOFT.2013.01.002.

Philipp, T. *et al.* (2019) 'U(VI) sorption on Ca-bentonite at (hyper)alkaline conditions – Spectroscopic investigations of retention mechanisms', *Science of The Total Environment*, 676, pp. 469–481. doi: 10.1016/J.SCITOTENV.2019.04.274.

Philipp, T. *et al.* (2022) 'Effect of Ca(II) on U(VI) and Np(VI) retention on Ca-bentonite and clay minerals at hyperalkaline conditions - New insights from batch sorption experiments and luminescence spectroscopy', *Science of the Total Environment*, 842, p. 156837. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2022.156837.

POSIVA (2012) Design, production and initial state of the buffer.

POSIVA (2021) *Buffer, Backfill and Closure Evolution.* Available at: https://www.posiva.fi/en/index/media/reports.html.

SKB (2021a) *Äspö Hard Rock Laboratory. Annual Report 2020.* Available at: https://www.skb.com/publication/2498754 (Accessed: 30 May 2023).

SKB (2021b) SFR-Final Repository for Short-lived Radioactive Waste. Available at: https://www.skb.com/our-operations/sfr/ (Accessed: 11 April 2022).

Sposito, G. (2008) 'The Chemical Composition of Soils', in Sposito, G. (ed.) *The Chemistry of Soils*. Oxford University Press Inc, pp. 2–24. Available at: https://global.oup.com/academic/product/the-chemistry-of-soils-9780195313697 (Accessed: 21 July 2023).

STUK (2015) Safety Case for the Disposal of Spent Nuclear Fuel at Olkiluoto – Performance Assessment 2012. 1/H42252/2015 1.

Sudheer Kumar, R. *et al.* (2021) 'Thermally induced bentonite alterations in the SKB ABM5 hot bentonite experiment', *Minerals*, 11(9), p. 1017. doi: 10.3390/min11091017.

Svensson, D. *et al.* (2011) 'Alternative buffer material. Status of the ongoing laboratory investigation of reference materials and test package 1', *Technical report*, (TR-11-06), p. 146. Available at: www.skb.se. (Accessed: 30 May 2023).

Tsai, S. C., Ouyang, S. and Hsu, C. N. (2001) 'Sorption and diffusion behavior of Cs and Sr on Jih-Hsing bentonite', *Applied Radiation and Isotopes*, 54(2), pp. 209–215. doi: 10.1016/S0969-8043(00)00292-X.

Vettese, Gianni F. *et al.* (2020) 'Multiple Lines of Evidence Identify U(V) as a Key Intermediate during U(VI) Reduction by *Shewanella oneidensis MR1*', *Environmental Science and Technology*, 54(4), pp. 2268–2276. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.9b05285.

Vettese, Gianni F *et al.* (2020) *Optimising bioremediation end-points for the safe and effective long-term stewardship of UK radwaste impacted land.* Available at: https://www.research.manchester.ac.uk/portal/en/theses/optimising-bioremediation-endpoints-for-the-safe-and-effective-longterm-stewardship-of-uk-radwaste-impacted-land(017896d6-6961-4453-9291-e586cb4619f9).html (Accessed: 4 July 2022).

Williamson, A. J. *et al.* (2021) 'Biogeochemical Cycling of <sup>99</sup>Tc in Alkaline Sediments', *Environmental Science and Technology*, 55(23), pp. 15862–15872. doi: 10.1021/acs.est.1c04416.